LA-UR-10- 00

Approved for public release; distribution is unlimited.

<i>Title:</i>	Review of Active Interrogation Techniques and Considerations for Their Use behind an Information Barrier
Author(s):	David DeSimone Andrea Favalli Duncan MacArthur Cal Moss Jonathan Thron
Intended for:	NA-243



Los Alamos National Laboratory, an affirmative action/equal opportunity employer, is operated by the Los Alamos National Security, LLC for the National Nuclear Security Administration of the U.S. Department of Energy under contract DE-AC52-06NA25396. By acceptance of this article, the publisher recognizes that the U.S. Government retains a nonexclusive, royalty-free license to publish or reproduce the published form of this contribution, or to allow others to do so, for U.S. Government purposes. Los Alamos National Laboratory requests that the publisher identify this article as work performed under the auspices of the U.S. Department of Energy. Los Alamos National Laboratory strongly supports academic freedom and a researcher's right to publish; as an institution, however, the Laboratory does not endorse the viewpoint of a publication or guarantee its technical correctness

Form 836 (7/06)

CONTENTS

1	Introd	uction	4
2	Active Interrogation Techniques		5
	2.1 Ph	oton Interrogation Techniques	5
	2.1.1	Photofission [71-75]	5
	2.1.2	Nuclear Resonance Fluorescence (NRF) [92-94]	6
	2.2 Net	utron Interrogation Techniques	8
	2.2.1	Active Well Coincidence Counters (AWCCs) [4, 65–67]	8
	2.2.2	Californium Shuffler (Shuffler) [4, 67]	.10
	2.2.3	Differential Die-Away (DDA) [40, 42-48, 52-54, 56-59]	.12
	2.2.4	Associated Particle Technique [69]	.16
3	3 Summary of IB Considerations for Active Interrogation Systems [100-113]		
4	Path Forward		
5	BIBLIOGRAPHY		

FIGURES

Figure 1.	A typical NRF experimental arrangement
Figure 2.	A typical AWCC
Figure 3.	Operation of a californium shuffler
Figure 4.	A top view of a typical DDA setup
Figure 5.	Time history of shielded detector response with and without SNM
Figure 6.	Typical setup for delayed neutron reinterrogation measurements
Figure 7.	Delayed-neutron-driven response for 91% enriched and 0.2% depleted uranium 15
Figure 8.	A typical associated particle experimental setup

REVIEW OF ACTIVE INTERROGATION TECHNIQUES AND CONSIDERATIONS FOR THEIR USE BEHIND AN INFORMATION BARRIER September 29, 2010

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Active interrogation techniques have been used to detect and measure properties of special nuclear material (SNM). The interrogation can be done using photons or neutrons, and the result of the interrogation can be seen by observing the gamma rays or neutrons emitted by the SNM. The effects observed are due to neutrons from induced fissions of the SNM, the neutrons and gamma rays produced by the fission fragments, or the characteristic gamma rays emitted by the excited SNM nuclei. Several different techniques are discussed, along with their strengths and weaknesses. We recommend further investigation of two techniques: (1) The Plutonium Scrap Metal Coincidence Counter, which has been used for passive measurements of plutonium and can be adapted into an Active Well Coincidence Counter for active measurements of uranium; and (2) The Nuclear Resonance Fluorescence method, which appears to offer several potential advantages, including the ability to distinguish different isotopes, as well as and a fairly penetrating signal.

1 INTRODUCTION

An attribute measurement system (AMS) with an information barrier (IB) is intended to measure several characteristics of a sensitive, SNM item (e.g., mass and isotopic composition) and to display an unclassified version of these characteristics—an attribute. These attributes can be used to confirm a declaration (made by the host party) concerning the SNM without revealing any sensitive information to the monitoring party. Until now, AMSs have been used to make passive measurements of SNM (mainly plutonium), but active interrogation measurements could be made using similar methods. Adding active interrogation would allow these measurement systems to be extended to measuring uranium items. The discussion presented here will concentrate on active measurements on uranium.

Important attributes for measuring uranium are enrichment and mass. Unlike plutonium, uranium (both ²³⁵U and ²³⁸U) has a very low spontaneous fission rate. This low rate makes it difficult to determine uranium properties using passive neutron techniques. Passive gamma-ray techniques have been developed for determining uranium enrichment. These techniques rely on the analysis of gamma-ray measurements using ratios of gamma-ray intensities from ²³⁵U and ²³⁸U. An assumption must be made that the selected measurement area is completely representative of the total uranium mass. The strongest gamma rays from ²³⁵U, with energies of 144, 186, and 205 keV, are easily attenuated by the container and its packing. If these low-energy gamma rays cannot be observed, no passive measurement of the enrichment is possible.

Active interrogation techniques have been developed for the measurement of uranium. These techniques use active neutron and photon systems, either inducing fission and measuring the corresponding coincidence or measuring the gamma rays emitted. The neutron source is either a random source (a radioactive source or a neutron generator) or a spontaneous fission source such as ²⁵²Cf. The photon source is typically a bremsstrahlung source.

Although some work has been done to determine uranium mass or enrichment, most of the effort has been aimed at uranium detection for nonproliferation purposes using various techniques (see the attached bibliography).

This report is arranged in several sections. Section 2, "Active Interrogation Techniques," includes two photon active interrogation techniques and several neutron interrogation techniques. The discussion of each of these active techniques includes subsections of advantages and disadvantages. Section 3 discusses the implications of information barriers on active techniques. Section 4 is a recommendation on the path forward for NA-243; Section 5 provides a bibliography.

A list of references is associated with each active technique. Each active technique title includes the reference numbers identifying selected items in the bibliography that are associated with it.

2 ACTIVE INTERROGATION TECHNIQUES

2.1 Photon Interrogation Techniques

2.1.1 Photofission [71–75]

Photon fission has been used to detect the presence of highly enriched uranium (HEU) in cargo by irradiating the container with high-energy gamma rays (with end-point energies ranging from 6 to 10 MeV) from a bremsstrahlung source and observing the fission signatures with suitable detectors. During the interrogation, the detectors are saturated from the bremsstrahlung source and cannot observe the prompt signals from fission. After the detectors recover, on the order of milliseconds, delayed fission signals can be observed.

The technique is based on the fact that heavy nuclei have a highly deformed shape. With the absorption of some energy, such as from a photon or low-energy neutron, a nucleus fissions, releasing two fission fragments that are rich in neutrons and in a highly excited state. The excess energy is shed by emitting, on average, two prompt neutrons and eight prompt gamma rays (prompt decay). The neutron-rich fission fragments fly apart with kinetic energies of about 200 MeV and decay by beta decay. This decay leaves the daughter nucleus in a very highly excited state, where it can decay by neutron emission (delayed neutron emission) or gamma-ray emission (delayed gamma-ray emission).

The technique can detect hundreds of grams of HEU. However, the matrix material and the spatial distribution of the special nuclear material (SNM) have a major influence on the evaluation of the mass.

2.1.1.1 Advantages

The advantages are that

- the technique uses an electron accelerator, which can be switched off and
- The high-energy gamma rays can penetrate many layers of material.

2.1.1.2 Disadvantages

- The technique has been used to detect HEU; diagnostic information has not been implemented. A research effort would be needed to develop the software tools to extract diagnostic information.
- Heavy shielding would be required to reduce the escaping radiation to a safe level.

2.1.2 Nuclear Resonance Fluorescence (NRF) [92–94]

Nuclear resonance fluorescence (NRF) uses a photon source for the active interrogation. Figure 1 shows a typical NRF experimental arrangement. An electron beam from an accelerator bombards a converter, typically tungsten, generating a bremsstrahlung gamma-ray source. The gamma rays leave the converter primarily in the forward direction. Some of the gamma rays bombard the sample material, generating excitations. The physical process behind NRF is that the nucleus absorbs electromagnetic radiation in discrete energy levels, and these levels de-excite by reemitting gamma-ray radiation of discrete energies characteristic of the nucleus. The emitted photons have energies of several MeV, which can penetrate many layers of material. This technique provides isotopic information that can be used to detect SNM.



Figure 1. A typical NRF experimental arrangement.

NRF excitations in ²³⁵U have been identified within the energy range of 1.0 to 2.5 MeV using a continuous bremsstrahlung source. The NRF gamma peaks of statistical significance in ²³⁵U occur at 1733, 1815, and 1862 keV. The NRF gamma peaks of statistical significance in ²³⁸U are at 2176, 2255, and 2468 keV. The ratios of these gamma-ray lines can be used to determine the uranium enrichment.

Typical interrogation sources used for NRF are a continuous wave (CW) bremsstrahlung source, a pulsed bremsstrahlung source, or a narrow bandwidth source using Compton backscattering to generate a narrow-energy photon beam. The CW bremsstrahlung source provides the highest total count rate when normalizing the measurements to the same physical geometry because this source excites many gamma lines at once. The narrow bandwidth source had the highest count rate on a given resonance peak and provides a higher signal-to-noise ratio than the bremsstrahlung sources. The pulsed bremsstrahlung sources are limited by pileup in the detector to about 0.1 of a count per beam pulse.

The NRF technique is best suited for measuring the enrichment; however, with the same bremsstrahlung source, an estimate of the mass can be obtained. This estimate can be accomplished by taking a transmission measurement through the item or by observing the Compton-scattered gamma rays off of the item to provide information on the density of the material. If we create a "crude" image, a shape can be inferred and thus the volume. Alternatively, the volume could be assumed based on the container or declarations about the item. Given the density and the volume, a mass can be calculated.

2.1.2.1 Advantages

The advantages are that

- the emitted gamma radiation from the sample is of relatively high energy and can penetrate many layers of material;
 - When a high-purity germanium detector (HPGe) is used, the NRF technique can detect almost every major element in the sample; with appropriate attenuation corrections, enrichment information can be obtained;
 - the NRF technique uses an accelerator that can be turned off, unlike a radioactive source, which cannot; and
 - the same accelerator can be used to determine the mass.

2.1.2.2 Disadvantages

- The NRF technique requires an intense 3-MeV source that may require shielding or removal of personnel from the area during operation. Because the emitted radiation is of relatively high energy, this radiation may escape the system, and an adversary could measure it with a remote detector.
- Heavy shielding may also be required to shield the detector from the source.

2.2 Neutron Interrogation Techniques

2.2.1 Active Well Coincidence Counters (AWCCs) [4, 65-67]

The basic principle behind the AWCC is fast-neutron interrogation using a random neutron source [such as americium-lithium (AmLi)] and counting the induced fission reaction neutrons from the uranium using coincidence techniques. A neutron generator can also be used as the interrogating source. Figure 2 shows a typical AWCC. The doubles and triples (fission neutron coincidence) count rates are used to solve for the induced fission rate and multiplication. The doubles and triples count rate are two and three fission neutrons detected in the ³He tubes simultaneously after the fission neutrons have been moderated in the polyethylene. The ratio of the triples count rate to the doubles count rate gives the multiplication. The interaction of the random source neutrons with the uranium (called "coupling") makes active multiplicity counting more complex than passive multiplicity counting for plutonium assay.



Figure 2. A typical AWCC.

The determination of the uranium mass is dependent on the induced fission rate and the coupling, which must be determined. The coupling depends on the item's geometry, ²³⁵U density, chemical and isotopic composition, and location in the assay chamber. The coupling is determined from calibration curves of coupling vs multiplication using physical standards of composition similar to what is to be measured or Monte Carlo calculations. These calibration curves are nonlinear because of the multiplication and absorption in the uranium; they are sensitive to the geometry and density of the item. If we know the coupling, the induced fission rate, and the total output of the AmLi sources, the uranium mass can be determined. The AWCC achieves 1% counting precision for items containing 4 kg or more of ²³⁵U. Using multiplicity counting makes the

technique relatively insensitive to the random, singles neutrons from the interrogating source, while retaining efficiency for counting the fission neutrons. The AWCC uses many ³He tubes embedded in polyethylene for the detection of thermal neutrons to achieve the high efficiency required for coincidence counting.

The AWCC can be operated in a thermal-neutron mode by placing a cadmium liner in the well to assay small or low-enriched uranium (LEU) samples, or it can be operated in a fast-neutron mode by removing the cadmium liner, for assaying large quantities of ²³⁵U. An HPGe detector can be used to determine the enrichment by observing the 186-keV peak from HEU and the 1001-keV peak from depleted uranium. With the appropriate attenuation corrections, the ratio of the peak areas gives the enrichment.

2.2.1.1 Advantages

The advantages are that

- the AmLi source's neutron energies are low enough that ²³⁸U does not fission and the ²³⁵U mass measurement is not overestimated, which simplifies data analysis;
- the AWCC can operate in either a thermal-neutron mode for small samples or a fastneutron mode for large quantities of ²³⁵U. The AWCC has a minimum detectable mass for ²³⁵U of a few grams; and
- Active well counters have been commercially available for many years.

2.2.1.2 Disadvantages

- a longer measurement time, 1000 seconds or more, is required to obtain good precision on the triples coincidence;
- the AmLi source strength is limited to 10⁴ to 10⁵ neutrons/second. Using a larger source increases the accidental rate;
- a typical commercial cavity for an AWCC is 9 in. in diameter, which limits the size of samples; and
- a radioactive source is used, which needs to be placed in a shielded configuration when not in use. However, replacement of this source with a neutron generator would eliminate this disadvantage.

2.2.2 Californium Shuffler (Shuffler) [4, 67]

An alternative to the AWCC, the shuffler, uses ²⁵²Cf sources to induce fissions. The energy of the neutrons from the californium is higher, 2.2 MeV, as compared with the 0.4-MeV AmLi source used in the AWCC. The external ²⁵²Cf neutron-source emission rates are generally 10⁹ neutrons/second. These rates are higher than in the AWCC. With this high rate, the system cannot detect prompt fissions. Instead, the shuffler counts the delayed neutrons that are emitted seconds to minutes after fissions. The californium source must be removed quickly to a shielded location to allow measurement of the delayed neutrons because they represent only 1% of the fission neutrons. By repeatedly irradiating the sample and counting delayed neutrons, a desired precision can be obtained.

Figure 3 shows the operation of a typical shuffler. In the figure, the gray block is the assay chamber and the upper block is the shielded storage for the californium source. The red circles are the ³He detectors.



Figure 3. Operation of a californium shuffler.

The background rate for the shuffler is fairly low, about 25 counts per second, and the background rate for the AWCC can be many thousands of counts per second. Therefore, delayed neutrons can be measured with the shuffler and not by the AWCC.

The shuffler is large enough to hold 55-gallon drums; if these drums have small quantities of SNM (less than 10 g) and the best relative precision is needed, the shuffler is the best instrument to use.

A relative precision of 1% is typical with 55-gallon drums.

Shufflers are not as common in the field as AWCCs because of the larger size, the greater expense, and the fact that intense californium sources are more difficult to handle.

2.2.2.1 Advantages

The advantages are that the shuffler

- generates a high-precision measurement for bulk uranium, where gamma-ray measurements cannot be used and the item cannot be placed in an AWCC;
- has a lower background than the AWCC, allowing better precision; and
- can be used in the passive mode for bulk items.

2.2.2.2 Disadvantages

- the shuffler uses an intense californium source, which has radiation safety implications;
- the system is very large and expensive; and
- the shuffler requires careful calibration to convert the delayed neutron count rate to an accurate mass of 235 U.

2.2.3 Differential Die-Away (DDA) [40, 42-48, 52-54, 56-59]

In the differential die-away technique, a deuterium-tritium (D-T) neutron generator produces repetitive pulses of neutrons that are directed into an item for inspection. The neutrons are thermalized in the item matrix and absorbed on the surface of any SNM present in the cavity, generating fission neutrons. The fission neutrons generate an epithermal spectrum due to slowing down in the medium. If we use shielded and bare detectors, the epithermal signal from fission can be differentiated from the thermal interrogating signal. Figure 4 shows a typical DDA system. Typically, ³He detectors embedded in a moderator are positioned around the item, forming a chamber. To monitor the interrogating thermal-neutron flux, a low-efficiency, bare ³He proportional counter is placed within the chamber. The ratio of the prompt-fission neutron counts to the interrogating flux monitor counts is proportional to the amount of fissile material present.



Figure 4. A top view of a typical DDA setup.

DDA systems have been used to monitor fissile material in waste drums and are capable of detecting milligrams of fissile material in dispersed form.

Figure 5 shows a typical time history response of the shielded detectors of a package monitor with (upper curves) and without (lower curve) fissile material in the chamber.



Figure 5. Time history of shielded detector response with (upper curves) and without (lower curve) SNM.

2.2.3.1 Advantages

The advantages are that

- this system can detect milligrams of fissile material in dispersed form; and
- DDA uses a D-T generator, which can be turned off.

2.2.3.2 Disadvantages

- the DDA technique is not suited for lumps of metal samples because the thermal neutrons are unable to penetrate the full volume of the sample; and
- the system requires a large quantity of moderator; for systems large enough to assay 55-gallon drums, the moderator may weigh several thousand pounds.

2.2.4 Delayed Neutron Reinterrogation Technique [68]

In this technique, an external pulsed generator, for example (photons above 5 MeV or 14- MeV neutrons), induces fissions into the uranium sample. Approximately 270 different fission fragments emit delayed neutrons. The yield per fission of each delayed neutron precursor is dependent on the fissioning isotope and the particle inducing fission.

The concept is to create an intrinsic steady-state source of delayed neutrons artificially by using the pulsed source to perform repetitive interrogations and generate a uniform distribution of fission products throughout the fissile material. This delayed-neutron source strength is dependent on the intensity and ability of the active source to generate fissions in the fissile material. The delayed neutrons leak from the system, get captured, or induce more fissions.

Typical data analysis for this technique uses neutron noise analysis. This analysis is a varianceto-mean technique using various moments of the neutron counting distribution to assess information about the subcritical neutron chain reaction system.

Delayed neutron reinterrogation has been used to determine uranium enrichment of subcritical systems ranging from 3.8 to 22 kg.

This technique has been demonstrated as a proof of principle, and more research is needed if it is to be used as a standard approach for safeguards measurements. Figure 6 shows a typical experimental arrangement for delayed neutron reinterrogation.





Figure 6. Typical setup for delayed neutron reinterrogation measurements.

Figure 7 shows the delayed-neutron-driven response for two different uranium enrichment samples. The upper (blue) curve is data from 91% enriched HEU, and the lower (black) curve is data from depleted uranium.



Figure 7. Delayed-neutron-driven response for 91% enriched uranium (upper curve) and 0.2% depleted uranium (lower curve).

2.2.4.1 Advantages

The advantages are that

- this technique uses a generator that can be switched off for the interrogation source, and
- measurement standards are not needed to calibrate the system.

2.2.4.2 Disadvantages

The disadvantages are that

• this technique is still in the research phase and would need considerable effort to use it for treaty verification.

2.2.5 Associated Particle Technique [69]

A D-T generator generates not only neutrons, but also alpha particles. For every 14-MeV neutron generated, a corresponding alpha particle is generated and travels in a direction opposite to the neutron for momentum conservation. The D-T generator has a built-in pixilated alpha detector. Detection of the alpha particle allows the direction and time of the associated neutron to be "tagged." By placing fast-neutron detectors behind and to the side of the object being interrogated and incorporating appropriate electronics, time correlations (coincidences) between events in the alpha detector with events in the different neutron detectors to determine if fissionable material is present. The coincidence counting rate is an indication of the mass. Gamma-ray detectors can also be used to detect the fission gamma rays given off from the fissioning of the ²³⁵U. Figure 8 shows a typical experimental arrangement.

The technique is limited to kilogram quantities of HEU. The packing limits the image but does not limit the detection of HEU.



Figure 8. A typical associated particle experimental setup.

Advantages:

The advantages are that

- the system is modular, fairly lightweight, and can be moved around easily;
- the system uses fast-neutron detectors and has good timing; and
- the D-T generator can be turned off, unlike a radioactive source, which cannot.

Disadvantages:

- the efficiency of the system is low;
- the system uses a D-T generator that requires periodic maintenance; and
- the data analysis is not yet automated and requires guidance and interpretation by experts.

3 SUMMARY OF IB CONSIDERATIONS FOR ACTIVE INTERROGATION SYSTEMS [100-113]

An active AMS contains many of the same components as a passive AMS. The radiation detection, data acquisition, and data processing systems of an active interrogation AMS are similar to passive AMSs built in the past e.g. the [fissile material transparency technology demonstration (FMTTD), next-generation AMS (NG-AMS), and Russian neutron/gamma AMS (AVNG)]. For these components, established IB techniques can be used, including

- opaque enclosures to prevent visual observations of the systems,
- Faraday cages to minimize radio frequency (RF) signal leakage from the electronics,
- a data barrier to ensure that only the agreed-upon attributes are displayed to the outside operator,
- filtering of the electrical power input to prevent information passing through the power lines, and
- use of optical fibers to bring the permitted information to the outside while blocking a path for RF signal radiation.

The sensitive information inside the IB can be further protected by including a system to detect a breach of the enclosure and deleting all the sensitive information should this occur. This protection can be provided either by shutting off the power to the information-containing devices, which are designed to lose all stored information with the loss of power, or by having software delete the information when it is notified of an enclosure breach.

The size of the enclosures required to contain an active AMS will vary, depending on the technique used and the size of the components. For large radiation sources, a larger enclosure may be needed.

Both passive and active AMSs measure some form of radiation that can be detected and analyzed to reveal sensitive information. This radiation can penetrate the IB enclosures. In passive plutonium-measurement AMSs, the radiation contains detailed gamma-ray spectra and neutron counting and multiplicity information. For the active system, the information will depend on the interrogation technique used. In the passive systems, this problem has been addressed by administrative means: strict controls have been placed on what the monitors can bring to the AMS and their allowed proximity to it. For active systems, the radiation may be much more energetic and intense. A similar solution would require that controls extend to larger distances, possibly hundreds of feet. In large facilities with large controlled areas, larger distances should be achievable.

Active interrogation AMSs can be classed as using radioactive sources (e.g., ²⁵²Cf or AmLi) or accelerator sources for the interrogation particles. The radioactive sources are "always on"; although their radiation may create safety problems, it is relatively constant and not a source of information leakage.

In principle, the accelerator-based systems could provide an information leakage path. The accelerator beam can be viewed as a potential information carrier; however, unless it is modulated, no information is being transmitted. If the computer, or other electronics, has control of the accelerator, this modulation could be seen as a possible mechanism to send information outside of the enclosure. The beam intensity could be varied, or, in the case of a pulsed source, the period could be varied. If we assume that the AMS is designed and built by the host, the host could ensure that no such mechanism existed; if supplied by the monitor, this would be a concern. For some of the active interrogation techniques, it might be possible to have the accelerator external to the IB enclosure and therefore have it clearly not influenced by any component that had access to sensitive information. As with a passive AMS, care must be taken not to create an inadvertent information leakage path. This path could be created by collecting data until a predefined uncertainty has been achieved or setting the accelerator intensity to produce a given transmission rate through the item. The data collection conditions should be independent of the item being assayed.

Another way that there could be information in the beam is that the beam is modified by its passage through the item being assayed and that this information can be detected some distance from the AMS. One method is that the beam might "cast a shadow" of the SNM, creating a projected image of the item downstream of the AMS. Radiation caused by the accelerator beam interacting with the item might also be detectable. For instance, in the NRF system, the fluorescence gamma-ray lines (either emitted by the item or absorbed by it) might be detectable.

The accelerator-based systems have the advantage that they can be turned off. This advantage could be used as a safety mechanism if any information leakage were suspected. Additionally, when these systems are not being used, there is no radiation safety concern and the potential information path has been shut off.

Systems that produce an image of the item and use this to calculate an attribute could have several potential problems. If the image is to be compared with an expected one, the host may not be willing to release this "template." Even information such as why the host will not release the image, how it might affect an attribute, or even where not to look may be sensitive. If the image is completely internal to the AMS and no comparison is being made (e.g., the information is used to calculate a volume of SNM present), there should generally not be an issue, although again, if some particular shape might affect an attribute calculation, the host might not want to discuss it or use that attribute. General image analysis software can be complex, and because it will have to run autonomously inside the AMS IB, it must be robust enough that both parties are confident of its operation under all circumstances.

Because of the higher radiation intensity involved in active interrogation systems, the use of radiation-hardened components may be necessary. During the accelerator operation, radiation safety considerations may mean that no people will be allowed to be in its vicinity. Thus, the "guards–and-guns" administrative component of the protection system may be less effective—no one will be present to observe what is happening. This high level of radiation will probably not be a significant factor from an IB perspective, but it should be considered for authentication of the system by the monitors. During the period of system operation, people may not be allowed to

maintain visual contact with the system and may have to rely on tamper-indicating devices or cameras for continuity of knowledge.

For some of the active interrogation techniques, the sample is irradiated and measurements are made after the radiation is removed (e.g., the californium shuffler, the delayed neutron reinterrogation, and the differential die-away). During the radiation phase, many fissions are being produced in the SNM, and although the technique does not use the prompt fission radiation and products, they may still carry some information.

Most of the far-field radiation issues could be addressed by adding plenty of shielding around the system. The shielding could reduce the radiation by absorbing it, scatter the radiation to degrade any image information, contain high-Z material to create "false" images, or emit/absorb gamma-ray lines or regions to obscure spectral information.

4 PATH FORWARD

We recommend two approaches. In the first approach, Los Alamos National Laboratory has a multiplicity counter behind an IB that was used for passive measurements on plutonium. This counter could be converted into an AWCC fairly easily. This conversion would include making modifications to the existing software to enable active measurement analysis to be performed to determine the mass of ²³⁵U. Software code modifications for measuring the enrichment would also need to be made for the enrichment determinations of the uranium.

For the second approach, we recommend investment into the NRF technique. We do not know of any NRF system currently operating behind an IB. NRF offers the potential ability to measure both mass and enrichment behind an IB.

5 **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

General

- [1] T. Gozani, and D. G. Costello, "Isotopic Source Assay System for Nuclear Materials," *Transactions of the American Nuclear Society* **13**:2, 746 (1970).
- [2] T. Gozani, "Physics of Nuclear Materials Safeguards Techniques," Nuclear Technology Nuclear Technology 13, 8–19 (1972).
- [3] P. Filss, "Fissile Material Detection by Active Neutron Interrogation with Radioactive Neutron Sources," *Nuclear Engineering and Design* **131**:2, 271–274 (November 1, 1991).
- [4] Michael P. Baker, T. W. Crane, Norbert Ensslin, Paul E. Fehau, R. N. Likes, et al., "Passive Nondestructive Assay of Nuclear Materials," 2007 addendum," United States Nuclear Regulatory Commission report NUREG/CR-5550 (1990).
- [5] J. T. Mihalczo, J. A. Mullens, J. K. Mattingly, and T. E. Valentine, "Physical Description of Nuclear Materials Identification System (NMIS) Signatures," NIM A, 450:2–3 531– 555 (August 11, 2000).
- [6] W. L. Myers, C. A. Goulding, C. L. Hollas, et al., "Photon and Neutron Active Interrogation of Highly Enriched Uranium," *AIP Conference Proceedings* **769**:2, 1688– 92 (2005).
- [7] C. E. Moss, C. L. Hollas, G. W. McKinney, et al., "Comparison of Active Interrogation Techniques," 2005 IEEE Nuclear Science Symposium Conference Record (IEEE Cat. No.05CH37692C), 329–32|CD-ROM (2006).
- [8] M. A. Descalle, D. Manatt, and D. Slaughter, "Analysis of Manifests for Containerized Commodities Imported through US Ports," 2006 IEEE Nuclear Science Symposium Conference Record (IEEE Cat. No.06CH37832), 6 (2007).
- [9] B. W. Blackburn, J. T. Johnson, S. M. Watson, et al., "Fast Digitization and Discrimination of Prompt Neutron and Photon Signals Using a Novel Silicon Carbide Detector—art. no. 65401J," *Optics and Photonics in Global Homeland Security III* 6540, J5401–J5401 (2007).
- [10] D. L. Chichester, and E. H. Seabury, "Addressing Different Active Neutron Interrogation Signatures from Fissionable Material," 2009 IEEE Nuclear Science Symposium and Medical Imaging Conference (NSS/MIC 2009), 956–60 (2009).
- [11] J. O'Malley, P. Adsley, S. Quillin, et al., "Current Status of AWE Programmes for Remote Detection of SNM," 2008 IEEE Nuclear Science Symposium and Medical Imaging Conference (2008 Nss/Mic) 1–9, 5628–5638 (2009).

- [12] P. E. Vanier, I. Dioszegi, C. Salwen, et al., "Stand-Off Detection of Special Nuclear Materials Using Neutron Imaging Methods," 2008 IEEE Nuclear Science Symposium and Medical Imaging Conference (2008 Nss/Mic), 1-9, 5614–5618 (2009).
- [13] J. O'Malley, A. Jones, J. Threadgold, et al., "Advanced Active Interrogation Sources for Remote Detection of Special Nuclear Material," 2009 IEEE Conference on Technologies for Homeland Security, 279–286 (2009).
- [14] T. Gozani, "Fission Signature for Nuclear Material Detection," *IEEE Nuclear Science* 56:3, part 2 (2009).

Neutron Interrogation

- [15] S. K. Ahn, T. H. Lee, H. S. Shin, et al., "Simulation and Preliminary Experimental Results for an Active Neutron Counter Using a Neutron Generator for a Fissile Material Accounting," *Nuclear Instruments & Methods in Physics Research Section a-Accelerators Spectrometers Detectors and Associated Equipment* 609:2–3, 205–212 (2009).
- [16] A. P. Barzilov, I. S. Novikov, and B. Cooper, "Computational Study of Pulsed Neutron Induced Activation Analysis of Cargo," *Journal of Radioanalytical and Nuclear Chemistry* 282:1, 177–181 (2009).
- [17] A. P. Barzilov, I. Novikov, and B. Cooper, "Monte Carlo Analysis of Pulse Neutron Based Cargo Interrogation System," 2009 IEEE Conference on Technologies for Homeland Security 282:1, 677–681, 177–181 (2009).
- [18] D. L. Chichester, and E. H. Seabury, "Using Electronic Neutron Generators in Active Interrogation to Detect Shielded Fissionable Material," 2008 IEEE Nuclear Science Symposium and Medical Imaging Conference (2008 Nss/Mic) 1–9, 2636–2642 (2009).
- [19] B. A. Ludewigt, D. L. Bleuel, M. D. Hoff, et al., "Accelerator-Driven Neutron Source for Cargo Screening," Nuclear Instruments & Methods in Physics Research Section B-Beam Interactions with Materials and Atoms 261:1–2, 303–306 (2007).
- [20] E. H. Seabury, and D. L. Chichester, "A Study of ³He Detectors for Active Interrogation," 2009 IEEE Nuclear Science Symposium and Medical Imaging Conference (NSS/MIC 2009), 710–712 (2009).
- [21] A. Seong-Kyu, L. Tae-Hoon, S. Hee-Sung, et al., "Simulation and Preliminary Experimental Results for an Active Neutron Counter Using a Neutron Generator for a Fissile Material Accounting," Nuclear Instruments & Methods in Physics Research, Section A (Accelerators, Spectrometers, Detectors and Associated Equipment), 205–212 (2009).

- [22] D. L. Williams, J. H. Vainionpaa, G. Jones, et al., "High Intensity, Pulsed, D-D Neutron Generator," *Application of Accelerators in Research and Industry* **1099**, 936–939 (2009).
- [23] B. A. Ludewigt, D. L. Bleuel, J. W. Kwan, et al., "High-Yield Neutron Source for Cargo Container Screening," 2006 IEEE Nuclear Science Symposium Conference Record (IEEE Cat. No.06CH37832), p. 4 (2007).
- [24] B. A. Ludewigt, R. P. Wells, and J. Reijonen, "High-Yield D-T Neutron Generator," Nuclear Instruments & Methods in Physics Research Section B-Beam Interactions with Materials and Atoms 261:1–2, 830–834 (2007).
- [25] B. J. Micklich, C. L. Fink, and T. J. Yule, "Key Research Issues in the Pulsed Fast-Neutron Analysis Technique for Cargo Inspection," *Cargo Inspection Technologies*, Proceedings of the Society of Photo-Optical Instrumentation Engineers (SPIE), A. H. Lawrence, ed., pp. 310–320 (1994).
- [26] C. E. Moss, M. W. Brener, C. L. Hollas, et al., "Portable Active Interrogation System," Nuclear Instruments & Methods in Physics Research Section B-Beam Interactions with Materials and Atoms 241:1–4, 793–797 (2005).
- [27] C. E. Moss, C. A. Goulding, C. L. Hollas, et al., "Linear Accelerator-Based Active Interrogation for Detection of Highly Enriched Uranium," *AIP Conference Proceedings* 680, 900–904 (2003).
- [28] C. E. Moss, C. A. Goulding, C. L. Hollas, et al., "Neutron Detectors for Active Interrogation of Highly Enriched Uranium," 2003 IEEE Nuclear Science Symposium. Conference Record (IEEE Cat. No.03CH37515), pp. 1440–1443, Vol.2|lii+3759 (2004).
- [29] C. E. Moss, C. A. Goulding, C. L. Hollas, et al., "Neutron, Detectors for Active Interrogation of Highly Enriched Uranium," *IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science* 51:4, 1677–1681 (2004).
- [30] S. G. Prussin, M. A. Descalle, J. M. Hall, et al., "Comparison of Tests with 14-MeV Neutrons to a Monte Carlo Model for Interrogation of Thick Cargos for Clandestine Fissionable Materials," Nuclear Instruments & Methods in Physics Research Section a-Accelerators Spectrometers Detectors and Associated Equipment 569:3, 853-862 (2006).
- [31] F. H. Ruddy, R. W. Flammang, and J. G. Seidel, "Low-Background Detection of Fission Neutrons Produced by Pulsed Neutron Interrogation," *Nuclear Instruments & Methods in Physics Research Section a-Accelerators Spectrometers Detectors and Associated Equipment* 598:2, 518-525 (2009).
- [32] F. Ruddy, J. Seidel, R. Flammang, et al., "Pulsed Neutron Interrogation for Detection of Concealed Special Nuclear Materials - art. no. 62130D," *Non-Intrusive Inspection Technologies* 6213, D2130–D2130 (2006).

- [33] E. H. Seabury, and D. L. Chichester, "A Study of ³He Detectors for Active Interrogation," 2009 IEEE Nuclear Science Symposium and Medical Imaging Conference (NSS/MIC 2009), pp. 710–712 (2009).
- [34] A. Seong-Kyu, L. Tae-Hoon, S. Hee-Sung, et al., "Simulation and Preliminary Experimental Results for an Active Neutron Counter Using a Neutron Generator for a Fissile Material Accounting," *Nuclear Instruments & Methods in Physics Research, Section A (Accelerators, Spectrometers, Detectors and Associated Equipment)*, 205–212 (2009).
- [35] G. L. Molnár, Zs. Révay, T. Belgya, "Non-Destructive Interrogation of Uranium Using PGAA," NIM B, **213**, 389–393 (January 2004).
- [36] L. A. Franks, J. L. Pigg, J. T. Caldwell, M. R. Cates, W. E. Kunz, B. W. Noel, and D. A. Close, "High Sensitivity Transuranic Waste Assay by Simultaneous Photon and Thermal-Neutron Interrogation Using an Electron Linear Accelerator," NIM 193:3, 571–5761 (March 1982).
- [37] F. Jallu and F. Loche, "Improvement of Non-Destructive Fissile Mass Assays in a Low-Level Waste Drums: A Matrix Correction Method Based on Neutron Capture Gamma-Rays and a Neutron Generator," NIM B 266:16, 3674–3690 (August 2008).
- [38] F. Jallu, A. Lyoussi, C. Passard, E. Payan, H. Recroix, G. Nurdin, A. Buisson, and J. Allano, "The Simultaneous Neutron and Photon Interrogation Method for Fissile and Non-Fissile Element Separation in Radioactive Waste Drums," NIM B 170:3–4, 489–500 (October 2000).
- [39] F. Jallu, A. Lyoussi, C. Passard, E. Payan, H. Recroix, G. Nurdin, A. Buisson, and J. Allano, "Fissile and Non-Fissile Element Separation in Concrete Radioactive Waste Drums Using the SIMPHONIE Method," NIM B 179:2, 267–278 (July 2001).
- [40] S. G. Melton, "Development of a New Corrections Scheme for Pulsed Neutron Interrogation of Fissile Materials," Ph.D. thesis, The University of Michigan (2002).
- [41] V. D. Aleksandrov, E. P. Bogolubov, O. V. Bochkarev, L. A. Korytko, V. I. Nazarov, Yu. G. Polkanov, V. I. Ryzhkov, and T. O. Khasaev, "Application of Neutron Generators for High Explosives, Toxic Agents and Fissile Material Detection," *Applied Radiation and Isotopes* 63:5-6, 537–543 (November–December 2005).
- [42] Phil Kerr, Mark Rowland, Dan Dietrich, Wolfgang Stoeffl, Boyd Wheeler, Les Nakae, Doug Howard, Chris Hagmann, Jason Newby, and Robert Porter, "Active Detection of Small Quantities of Shielded Highly-Enriched Uranium Using Low-Dose 60-keV Neutron Interrogation," NIMB 261:1–2, 347–350 (August 2007).
- [43] Dan Strellis, Tsahi Gozani, "Classifying Threats with a 14-MeV Neutron Interrogation System," *Applied Radiation and Isotopes* **63**:5–6, 799–803 (November–December 2005).

- [44] P. A. Hausladen, P. R. Bingham, J. S. Neal, J. A. Mullens, and J. T. Mihalczo, "Portable Fast-Neutron Radiography with the Nuclear Materials Identification System for Fissile Material Transfers," NIM B 261:1–2, 387–390 (August 2007).
- [45] A. A. Ananev, S. G. Belichenko, E. P. Bogolubov, O. V. Bochkarev, E. V. Petrov, A. M. Polishchuk, Yu. G. Polkanov, and A. Yu. Udaltsov, "Application of "Tagged" Neutron Method for Detection of High Explosives and Fissile Materials in Cargo Containers," in 9th International Conference on Application of Nuclear Techniques, Crete, Greece, 8–14 June, 2008.
- [46] Kelly A. Jordan and Tsahi Gozani, "Pulsed Neutron Differential Die Away Analysis for Detection of Nuclear Materials," NIM B **261**:1–2, 365–368 (August 2007).
- [47] K. A. Jordan, T. Gozani, and J. Vujic, "Differential Die-Away Analysis System Response Modeling and Detector Design," NIM A 589:3, 436–444 (May 15, 2008).
- [48] R. M. Yee, T. J. Shaw, and T. Gozani, "Thermal Neutron Die-Away Studies in a 14 MeV Neutron-Based Active Interrogation System," IEEE NS 56:3, part 2 (2009).
- [49] M. T. Kinlaw and A. W. Hunt, "Fissionable Isotope Identification Using the Time Dependence of Delayed Neutron Emission," NIM A 562:2, 1081–1084 (June 23, 2006).
- [50] A. -C. Raoux, A. Lyoussi, C. Passard, C. Denis, J. Loridon, J. Misraki, and P. Chany, "Transuranic Waste Assay by Neutron Interrogation and Online Prompt and Delayed Neutron Measurement," NIM B 207:2, 186–194 (June 2003).
- [51] S. G. Prussin, M.-A. Descalle, J. M. Hall, J. A. Pruet, D. R. Slaughter, M. R. Accatino, O. J. Alford, S. J. Asztalos, A. Bernstein, J. A. Church, et al., "Comparison of Tests with 14-MeV Neutrons to a Monte Carlo Model for Interrogation of Thick Cargos for Clandestine Fissionable Materials," NIM A 569:3, 853–862 (December 21, 2006).
- [52] A. Favalli, H-C. Mehner, J-M. Crochemore, and B. Pedersen, "Pulsed Neutron Facility for Research in Illicit Traffiking and Nuclear Safeguards," *IEEE Transaction on Nuclear Science* **56**:3 (2009).
- [53] A. Favalli and B. Pedersen, "Design and Characterisation of a Pulsed Neutron Interrogation Facility," *Radiation Protection Dosimetry* **126**:1–4, 74-77 (2007).
- [54] A. Favalli, H-C. Mehner, J-M. Crochemore, and B. Pedersen, "PUNITA: a Pulsed Neutron Facility for Research in Illicit Trafficking and Nuclear Safeguards," in 9th International conference on Application of Nuclear Techniques, Crete, Greece, June 8– 14, 2008.

- [55] B. Pedersen, W. Hage, A. Favalli, and G. Varasano, "Assay of Small Fissile Masses in Waste by Active Neutron Correlation Technique," Proc. of Symposium on International Safeguards: Addressing Verification Challenges, IAEA, Vienna, Austria, October 2006.
- [56] A. Favalli, H-C. Mehner, and B. Pedersen, "A Pulsed Neutron Device for Studies of Non-Nuclear Material Detection and Fissile Material Assay," 29th ESARDA Annual Meeting, Aix en Provence, 22–24 May 2007.
- [57] Rooney, York, Close, and Williams, "The Active Neutron Interrogation Package Monitor," conference proceedings, IEEE Nuclear Science Symposium, Toronto, Canada, November 1998.
- [58] B. D. Ronney, R. L. York, D. A. Close, and H. E. Williams III, "Active Neutron Interrogation Package Monitor," Nuclear Science Symposium 1998, Conference Record 2, 1027–1030 (1998).
- [59] B. H. Armitage, T. W. Packer, M. T. Swinhoe, and D. B. Syme, "Measurement of Nuclear Material in Waste," UK Safeguards R&D Programme, SRDP-R169 (June 1990).
- [60] J. A. Church, D. R. Slaughter, S. Asztalos, et al., "Signals and Interferences in the Nuclear Car Wash," Nuclear Instruments & Methods in Physics Research Section B-Beam Interactions with Materials and Atoms 261:1–2, 351–355 (2007).
- [61] E. B. Norman, S. G. Prussin, R. M. Larimer, et al., "Signatures of Fissile Materials: High-Energy Gamma Rays Following Fission," Nuclear Instruments & Methods in Physics Research Section a-Accelerators Spectrometers Detectors and Associated Equipment 521:2–3, 608–610 (2004).
- [62] D. R. Slaughter, M. R. Accatino, A. Bernstein, et al., "The Nuclear Car Wash: A System to Detect Nuclear Weapons in Commercial Cargo Shipments," *Nuclear Instruments & Methods in Physics Research Section a—Accelerators Spectrometers Detectors and Associated Equipment* 579:1, 349–352 (2007).
- [63] D. R. Slaughter, M. R. Accatino, A. Bernstein, et al., "Preliminary Results Utilizing High-Energy Fission Product Gamma-Rays to Detect Fissionable Material in Cargo," Nuclear Instruments & Methods in Physics Research Section B-Beam Interactions with Materials and Atoms 241:1-4, 777-781 (2005).
- [64] D. R. Slaughter, M. R. Accatino, A. Bernstein, et al., "The 'Nuclear Car Wash': A Scanner to Detect Illicit Special Nuclear Material in Cargo Containers," *IEEE Sensors Journal* 5:4, 560–564 (2005).
- [65] R. Schenkel, B.G.R. Smith, S. Tsalas, H. O. Menlove, M. S. Krick, P. Dell'Oro, A. Prosdocimi, T. R. Canada, J. Fager, and F. Schinzer, "Calibration and Experimental Comparison of the Active Well Coincidence Counter and PHONID-II," *Nuclear Science and Technology*, Commission of the European Communities, EUR 10377 EN (1986).

- [66] Seong-Kyu Ahn, Tae-Hoon Lee, Hee-Sung Shin, and Ho-Dong Kim, "Simulation and Preliminary Experimental Results for an Active Neutron Counter Using Neutron Generator for Fissile Material Accounting," *Nuclear Instruments & Methods in Physics Research Section A* 609:2–3, 205–212 (October 11, 2009).
- [67] Philip M. Rinard, "Measurement Technologies for Uranium Metal from Weapons Components, "Los Alamos National Laboratory report LA-CP-00-0010 (2000).
- [68] W. L. Myers, C. A. Goulding, and C. L. Hollas, "Determination of the ²³⁵U Enrichment of Bulk Uranium Samples Using Delayed Neutron," Los Alamos national Laboratory report LA-UR-06-3984 (2006).
- [69] J. T. Mihalczo, P. E. Koehler, T. E. Valtine, and L. D. Phillips, "Source Options for Nuclear Weapon Identification System," Oak Ridge National Laboratory report ORNL/TM-13025 (July 1995).

Photon Interrogation

- [70] R. S. Lawrence, L. O. Johnson, F. Y. Tsang, et al., "An Electronics System for Transuranics Waste Assay," *IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science* 28:1, 310–313 (1981).
- [71] J. L. Jones, B. W. Blackburn, S. M. Watson, et al., "High-Energy Photon Interrogation for Nonproliferation Applications," *Nuclear Instruments & Methods in Physics Research Section B-Beam Interactions with Materials and Atoms* **261**:1–2, 326–330 (2007).
- [72] J. L. Jones, Y. D. Harker, W. Y. Yoon, et al., "Pulsed Photon Interrogation with Neutron-Induced Gamma-Ray Spectrometry for Cargo Inspections," SPIE 326–338 (October 1994).
- [73] J. L. Jones, K. J. Haskell, J. M. Hoggan, et al., "Photonuclear-Based Detection of Nuclear Smuggling in Cargo Containers," in 17th Int. Conf. Application Accelerators Research Industry, Denton, TX, 2002, pp. 947–950.
- [74] J. L. Jones, D. R. Norman, K. J. Haskell, et al., "Detection of Shielded Nuclear Material in a Cargo Container," *Nuclear Instruments & Methods in Physics Research Section a*— *Accelerators Spectrometers Detectors and Associated Equipment* **562**:2, 1085–1088 (2006).
- [75] J. L. Jones, W. Y. Yoon, D. R. Norman, et al., "Photonuclear-Based, Nuclear Material Detection System for Cargo Containers," *Nuclear Instruments & Methods in Physics Research Section B-Beam Interactions with Materials and Atoms* 241:1–4, 770–776 (2005).
- [77] B. W. Blackburn, J. L. Jones, C. E. Moss, et al., "Utilization of Actively-Induced, Prompt Radiation Emission for Nonproliferation Applications," *Nuclear Instruments & Methods*

in Physics Research Section B-Beam Interactions with Materials and Atoms 261:1–2 341–346 (2007).

- [78] J. W. Schumer, R. J. Commisso, D. D. Hinshelwood, et al., "Development of an Intense Pulsed Characteristic Gamma-Ray Source for Active Interrogation of Special Nuclear Material," 2007 IEEE Nuclear Science Symposium Conference Record, pp. 1026–32 (2007).
- [79] A. Tartaglione, F. Di Lorenzo, and R. E. Mayer, "Detection of Thermal-Induced Prompt Fission Neutrons of Highly-Enriched Uranium: A Position Sensitive Technique," *Nuclear Instruments & Methods in Physics Research Section B-Beam Interactions with Materials and Atoms* 267:14, 2453–2456 (2009).
- [80] R. B. Williams, B. W. Blackburn, P. Hausladen, et al., "In-the-Flash Pulse Shape Discrimination with Liquid Scintillators," 2008 IEEE Nuclear Science Symposium and Medical Imaging Conference (2008 Nss/Mic), 1–9, 1362–1365 (2009).
- [81] J. W. Sterbentz, J. L. Jones, W. Y. Yoon, et al., "Benchmark Validation Comparisons of Measured and Calculated Delayed Neutron Detector Responses for a Pulsed Photonuclear Assessment Technique," Nuclear Instruments & Methods in Physics Research Section B-Beam Interactions with Materials and Atoms 261:1–2, 373–377 (2007).
- [82] K. D. Ianakiev, B. S. Alexandrov, B. W. Blackburn, et al., "Electronics and Signal Processing for Prompt Radiation," 2007 IEEE Nuclear Science Symposium Conference Record, pp. 1166–1169 (2007).
- [83] Bradley J. Micklich and Donald L. Smith, "Nuclear Materials Detection Using High-Energy Rays," NIMB 241:1–4, 782–786 (December 2005).
- [84] L. Lakosi, C. Tam Nguyen, and J. Bagi, "Photoneutron Interrogation of Low-Enriched Uranium Induced by Bremsstrahlung from a 4 MeV Linac," NIM B 266:2, 295–300 (January 2008).
- [85] László Lakosi and Cong Tam Nguyen, "Neutron Interrogation of High-Enriched Uranium by a 4 MeV Linac," NIM B 266:14, 3295–3301 (July 2008).
- [86] M. Gmar, F. Jeanneau, F. Lainé, H. Makil, B. Poumarède, and F. Tola, "Assessment of Actinide Mass Embedded in Large Concrete Waste Packages by Photon Interrogation and Photofission," *Applied Radiation and Isotopes* 63:5–6, 613–619 (November–December 2005).
- [87] Daniel H. Morse, Arlyn J. Antolak, and Barney L. Doyle, "Photofission in Uranium by Nuclear Reaction Gamma-Rays," NIM B 261:1–2, 378–381 (August 2007).
- [88] Mehdi Gmar, Fabien Jeanneau, Frédéric Lainé, and Bénédicte Poumarède, "Photofission Tomography of Nuclear Waste Packages," NIM A 562:2, 23,1089–1092 (June 2006).

- [89] J. L. Jones, J. W. Sterbentz, W. Y. Yoon, D. R. Norman, and D. W. Gerts, "Bremsstrahlung versus Monoenergetic Photons for Photonuclear Inspection Applications," in 9th International Conference on Application of Nuclear Techniques, Crete, Greece, 8–14 June 2008.
- [90] A. Lyoussi, J. Romeyer-Dherbey, F. Jallu, E. Payan, A. Buisson, G. Nurdin, and J. Allano, "Transuranic Waste Detection by Photon Interrogation and On-Line Delayed Neutron Counting," NIM B 160:2, 280–289 (February 1999).
- [91] M. Gmar, and J. M. Capdevila, "Use of Delayed Gamma Spectra for Detection of Actinides (U,Pu) by Photofission," Nuclear Instruments & Methods in Physics Research Section a-Accelerators Spectrometers Detectors and Associated Equipment 422:1-3, 841-845 (1999).

Nuclear Resonance Fluorescence (NRF)

- [92] W. Bertozzi, J. A. Caggiano, W. K. Hensley, et al., "Nuclear Resonance Fluorescence Excitations near 2 MeV in ²³⁵U and ²³⁹Pu," *Physical Review C (Nuclear Physics)* 041601 (5 pp.) (2008).
- [93] G. Warren, J. Caggiano, M. Ahmed, et al., "Nuclear Resonance Fluorescence Using Different Photon Sources," 2008 IEEE Nuclear Science Symposium and Medical Imaging Conference (2008 Nss/Mic) 1-9, 2593-2598 (2009).
- [94] G. Warren, J. Caggiano, and P. Peplowski, "Potential Applications of Nuclear Resonance Fluorescence," *International Conference on Applications of Nuclear Techniques* **1194**, 106–119 (2009).

Mathematical Aspects and Monte Carlo Calculations

- [95] E. Padovani, S. D. Clarke, and S. A Pozzi, "Feasibility of Prompt Correlated Counting from Photon Interrogation of Concealed Nuclear Materials," NIM A 583:2–3, 412–4202 (December 1, 2007).
- [96] J. W. Sterbentz, J. L. Jones, W. Y. Yoon, D. R. Norman, and K. J. Haskell, "Benchmark Validation Comparisons of Measured and Calculated Delayed Neutron Detector Responses for a Pulsed Photonuclear Assessment Technique," NIM B 261:1–2, 373–377 (August 2007.
- [97] W. Hage, "Nondestructive Fissile Material Assay by Induced Fission Neutron Correlation," NIM A 551:2–3, 396–419 (October 11, 2005).
- [98] W. Hage, "Fissile Mass Determination by the Active Neutron Correlation Technique with the Generalised Poisson Parameters or Its Factorial Moments," NIM A **614**:1, 72–86 (February 12, 2010).

[99] A. P. Barzilov, I. Novikov, and B. Cooper, "Monte Carlo Analysis of Pulse Neutron Based Cargo Interrogation System," Technologies for Homeland Security, HST '09, IEEE Conference on 2009 (2009).

Information Barrier

- [100] Duncan MacArthur, M. William Johnson, Nancy Jo Nicholas, and Rena Whiteson, "Use of Information Barriers to Protect Classified Information," Los Alamos National Laboratory report LA-UR-98-2910 (1998).
- [101] D.W. MacArthur and R. Whiteson, "Functional Requirements for a Prototype Inspection System and Information Barrier," Los Alamos National Laboratory report LA-UR-98-5982 (December 1998).
- [102] James K. Wolford Jr. and Duncan W. MacArthur, "Safeguards for Nuclear Weapon Dismantlement Verification," proceedings of the SPIE Conference on Penetrating Radiation Systems and Applications, 1999.
- [103]Duncan W. MacArthur, Rena Whiteson, and James K. Wolford, Jr., "Functional Description of an Information Barrier to Protect Classified Information," Los Alamos National Laboratory report LA-UR-99-3746 (July 1999).
- [104] Rena Whiteson, Robert P. Landry, Diana Langner, Duncan W. MacArthur, and James K. Wolford, Jr., "A Prototype Inspection System with Information Barrier for the Trilateral Initiative," Los Alamos National Laboratory report LA-UR-99-3609 (July 1999).
- [105] Diana Langner, Duncan MacArthur, Nancy Jo Nicholas, Rena Whiteson, Tom Gosnell, and Jim Wolford, "Progress Towards Criteria for a Second Generation Prototype Inspection System with Information Barrier for the Trilateral Initiative," Proceedings of the INMM 41st Annual Meeting, New Orleans, Louisiana, July 16–20, 2000.
- [106] Duncan W. MacArthur and Rena Whiteson, "Comparison of Hardware and Software Approaches to Information Barrier Construction," Los Alamos National Laboratory report LA-UR-00-2422 (May 2000).
- [107] Duncan W. MacArthur, Diana Langner, Rena Whiteson, and James K. Wolford, Jr. "Effects of Information Barrier Requirements on the Trilateral Initiative Attribute Measurement System (AVNG)," Los Alamos National Laboratory report LA-UR-01-3333 (June 2001).
- [108]Duncan W. MacArthur and James K. Wolford, Jr. "Information Barriers and Authentication," Los Alamos National Laboratory report LA-UR-01-3334 (June 2001).

- [109]Duncan W. MacArthur, Diana G. Langner, and Philip A. Hypes, "Information Barrier Technology Applied to Less Restrictive Environments," Los Alamos National Laboratory report LA-UR-04-0380 (January 2004).
- [110] Robert Landry, Duncan W. MacArthur, Kate Frame, Morag Smith, and Richard Williams, "Advantages of Using a Small Chip Count Device in an Information Barrier," Proceedings of the INMM 46th Annual Meeting, Phoenix, AZ, July 10-14, 2005.
- [111]Richard Williams, Kate Frame, Robert Landry, Duncan MacArthur, and Morag Smith, "Advances in Information Barrier Design," Proceedings of the INMM 46th Annual Meeting, Phoenix, AZ, July 10-14, 2005.
- [112]Duncan MacArthur and Diana Langner, "Remote Monitoring of Classified Material," Proceedings of the INMM 46th Annual Meeting, Phoenix, AZ, July 10-14, 2005.
- [113]Richard Williams, Norman Johansen, Peter Karpius, Duncan MacArthur, and Morag Smith, "Implementation of an Information Barrier for the Next Generation Attribute Measurement System," proceedings of the INMM 48th Annual Meeting, Tuscon, AZ, July 8-12, 2007.